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§ 1984.114 District court jurisdiction of 
retaliation complaints. 

(a) The complainant may bring an ac-
tion at law or equity for de novo review 
in the appropriate district court of the 
United States, which will have jurisdic-
tion over such an action without re-
gard to the amount in controversy, ei-
ther: 

(1) Within 90 days after receiving a 
written determination under 
§ 1984.105(a) provided that there has 
been no final decision of the Secretary; 
or 

(2) If there has been no final decision 
of the Secretary within 210 days of the 
filing of the complaint. 

(3) At the request of either party, the 
action shall be tried by the court with 
a jury. 

(b) A proceeding under paragraph (a) 
of this section shall be governed by the 
same legal burdens of proof specified in 
section 1984.109. The court shall have 
jurisdiction to grant all relief nec-
essary to make the employee whole, in-
cluding injunctive relief and compen-
satory damages, including: 

(1) Reinstatement with the same se-
niority status that the employee would 
have had, but for the discharge or dis-
crimination; 

(2) The amount of back pay, with in-
terest; and 

(3) Compensation for any special 
damages sustained as a result of the 
discharge or discrimination, including 
litigation costs, expert witness fees, 
and reasonable attorney fees. 

(c) Within seven days after filing a 
complaint in federal court, a complain-
ant must file with the Assistant Sec-
retary, the ALJ, or the ARB, depending 
on where the proceeding is pending, a 
copy of the file-stamped complaint. A 
copy of the complaint also must be 
served on the OSHA official who issued 
the findings and/or preliminary order, 
the Assistant Secretary, and the Asso-
ciate Solicitor, Division of Fair Labor 
Standards, U.S. Department of Labor. 

§ 1984.115 Special circumstances; wai- 
ver of rules. 

In special circumstances not con-
templated by the provisions of these 
rules, or for good cause shown, the ALJ 
or the ARB on review may, upon appli-
cation, after three- days notice to all 

parties, waive any rule or issue such 
orders that justice or the administra-
tion of section 18C of the FLSA re-
quires. 

PART 1986—PROCEDURES FOR THE 
HANDLING OF RETALIATION 
COMPLAINTS UNDER THE EM-
PLOYEE PROTECTION PROVISION 
OF THE SEAMAN’S PROTECTION 
ACT (SPA), AS AMENDED 

Subpart A—Complaints, Investigations, 
Findings, and Preliminary Orders 

Sec. 
1986.100 Purpose and scope. 
1986.101 Definitions. 
1986.102 Obligations and prohibited acts. 
1986.103 Filing of retaliation complaints. 
1986.104 Investigation. 
1986.105 Issuance of findings and prelimi-

nary orders. 

Subpart B—Litigation 

1986.106 Objections to the findings and the 
preliminary order and request for a hear-
ing. 

1986.107 Hearings. 
1986.108 Role of Federal agencies. 
1986.109 Decisions and orders of the admin-

istrative law judge. 
1986.110 Decisions and orders of the Admin-

istrative Review Board. 

Subpart C—Miscellaneous Provisions 

1986.111 Withdrawal of SPA complaints, 
findings, objections, and petitions for re-
view; settlement. 

1986.112 Judicial review. 
1986.113 Judicial enforcement. 
1986.114 District court jurisdiction of retal-

iation complaints under SPA. 
1986.115 Special circumstances; waiver of 

rules. 

AUTHORITY: 46 U.S.C. 2114; 49 U.S.C. 31105; 
Secretary’s Order 1–2012 (Jan. 18, 2012), 77 FR 
3912 (Jan. 25, 2012); Secretary’s Order 1–2010 
(Jan. 15, 2010), 75 FR 3924–01 (Jan. 25, 2010). 

SOURCE: 78 FR 8402, Feb. 6, 2013, unless oth-
erwise noted. 

Subpart A—Complaints, Investiga-
tions, Findings, and Prelimi-
nary Orders 

§ 1986.100 Purpose and scope. 
(a) This part sets forth the proce-

dures for, and interpretations of, the 
Seaman’s Protection Act (SPA), 46 
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U.S.C. 2114, as amended, which protects 
a seaman from retaliation because the 
seaman has engaged in protected activ-
ity pertaining to compliance with mar-
itime safety laws and accompanying 
regulations. SPA incorporates the pro-
cedures, requirements, and rights de-
scribed in the whistleblower provision 
of the Surface Transportation Assist-
ance Act (STAA), 49 U.S.C. 31105. 

(b) This part establishes procedures 
pursuant to the statutory provisions 
set forth above for the expeditious han-
dling of retaliation complaints filed by 
seamen or persons acting on their be-
half. These rules, together with those 
rules codified at 29 CFR part 18, set 
forth the procedures for submission of 
complaints, investigations, issuance of 
findings and preliminary orders, objec-
tions to findings, litigation before ad-
ministrative law judges (ALJs), post- 
hearing administrative review, with-
drawals and settlements, and judicial 
review and enforcement. In addition, 
these rules provide the Secretary’s in-
terpretations on certain statutory 
issues. 

§ 1986.101 Definitions. 
As used in this part: 
(a) Act means the Seaman’s Protec-

tion Act (SPA), 46 U.S.C. 2114, as 
amended. 

(b) Assistant Secretary means the As-
sistant Secretary of Labor for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health or the person 
or persons to whom he or she delegates 
authority under the Act. 

(c) Business days means days other 
than Saturdays, Sundays, and Federal 
holidays. 

(d) Citizen of the United States means: 
(1) An individual who is a national of 

the United States as defined in section 
101(a)(22) of the Immigration and Na-
tionality Act (8 U.S.C. 1101 (a)(22)) or a 
corporation, partnership, association, 
or other business entity if the control-
ling interest is owned by citizens of the 
United States. The controlling interest 
in a corporation is owned by citizens of 
the United States if: 

(i) Title to the majority of the stock 
in the corporation is vested in citizens 
of the United States free from any 
trust or fiduciary obligation in favor of 
a person not a citizen of the United 
States; 

(ii) The majority of the voting power 
in the corporation is vested in citizens 
of the United States; 

(iii) There is no contract or under-
standing by which the majority of the 
voting power in the corporation may be 
exercised, directly or indirectly, in be-
half of a person not a citizen of the 
United States; and 

(iv) There is no other means by which 
control of the corporation is given to 
or permitted to be exercised by a per-
son not a citizen of the United States. 

(2) Furthermore, a corporation is 
only a citizen of the United States if: 

(i) It is incorporated under the laws 
of the United States or a State; 

(ii) Its chief executive officer, by 
whatever title, and the chairman of its 
board of directors are citizens of the 
United States; and 

(iii) No more of its directors are non-
citizens than a minority of the number 
necessary to constitute a quorum. 

(e) Complainant means the seaman 
who filed a SPA whistleblower com-
plaint or on whose behalf a complaint 
was filed. 

(f) Cooperated means any assistance 
or participation with an investigation, 
at any stage of the investigation, and 
regardless of the outcome of the inves-
tigation. 

(g) Maritime safety law or regulation 
includes any statute or regulation re-
garding health or safety that applies to 
any person or equipment on a vessel. 

(h) Notify or notified includes any oral 
or written communications. 

(i) OSHA means the Occupational 
Safety and Health Administration of 
the United States Department of 
Labor. 

(j) Person means one or more individ-
uals or other entities, including but 
not limited to corporations, companies, 
associations, firms, partnerships, soci-
eties, and joint stock companies. 

(k) Report or reported means any oral 
or written communications. 

(l) Respondent means the person al-
leged to have violated 46 U.S.C. 2114. 

(m) Seaman means any individual en-
gaged or employed in any capacity on 
board a vessel owned by a citizen of the 
United States. The term includes an in-
dividual formerly performing the work 
described above or an applicant for 
such work. 
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(n) Secretary means the Secretary of 
Labor or persons to whom authority 
under the Act has been delegated. 

(o) State means a State of the United 
States, the District of Columbia, Puer-
to Rico, the Virgin Islands, American 
Samoa, Guam, and the Northern Mar-
iana Islands. 

(p) Vessel means every description of 
watercraft or other artificial contriv-
ance used, or capable of being used, as 
a means of transportation on water. 

(q) Vessel owner includes all of the 
agents of the owner, including the ves-
sel’s master. 

(r) Any future amendments to SPA 
that affect the definition of a term or 
terms listed in this section will apply 
in lieu of the definition stated herein. 

§ 1986.102 Obligations and prohibited 
acts. 

(a) A person may not retaliate 
against any seaman because the sea-
man: 

(1) In good faith reported or is about 
to report to the Coast Guard or other 
appropriate Federal agency or depart-
ment that the seaman believes that a 
violation of a maritime safety law or 
regulation prescribed under that law or 
regulation has occurred; 

(2) Refused to perform duties ordered 
by the seaman’s employer because the 
seaman has a reasonable apprehension 
or expectation that performing such 
duties would result in serious injury to 
the seaman, other seamen, or the pub-
lic; 

(3) Testified in a proceeding brought 
to enforce a maritime safety law or 
regulation prescribed under that law; 

(4) Notified, or attempted to notify, 
the vessel owner or the Secretary of 
the department in which the Coast 
Guard is operating of a work-related 
personal injury or work-related illness 
of a seaman; 

(5) Cooperated with a safety inves-
tigation by the Secretary of the de-
partment in which the Coast Guard is 
operating or the National Transpor-
tation Safety Board; 

(6) Furnished information to the Sec-
retary of the department in which the 
Coast Guard is operating, the National 
Transportation Safety Board, or any 
other public official as to the facts re-
lating to any marine casualty resulting 

in injury or death to an individual or 
damage to property occurring in con-
nection with vessel transportation; or 

(7) Accurately reported hours of duty 
under part A of subtitle II of title 46 of 
the United States Code. 

(b) Retaliation means any discrimi-
nation against a seaman including, but 
is not limited to, discharging, demot-
ing, suspending, harassing, intimi-
dating, threatening, restraining, coerc-
ing, blacklisting, or disciplining a sea-
man. 

(c) For purposes of paragraph (a)(2) of 
this section, the circumstances causing 
a seaman’s apprehension of serious in-
jury must be of such a nature that a 
reasonable person, under similar cir-
cumstances, would conclude that there 
is a real danger of an injury or serious 
impairment of health resulting from 
the performance of duties as ordered by 
the seaman’s employer. To qualify for 
protection based on activity described 
in paragraph (a)(2) of this section, the 
seaman must have sought from the em-
ployer, and been unable to obtain, cor-
rection of the unsafe condition. Any 
seaman who requests such a correction 
shall be protected against retaliation 
because of the request. 

§ 1986.103 Filing of retaliation com-
plaints. 

(a) Who may file. A seaman who be-
lieves that he or she has been retali-
ated against by a person in violation of 
SPA may file, or have filed by any per-
son on the seaman’s behalf, a com-
plaint alleging such retaliation. 

(b) Nature of filing. No particular 
form of complaint is required. A com-
plaint may be filed orally or in writing. 
Oral complaints will be reduced to 
writing by OSHA. If a seaman is unable 
to file a complaint in English, OSHA 
will accept the complaint in any other 
language. 

(c) Place of filing. The complaint 
should be filed with the OSHA office re-
sponsible for enforcement activities in 
the geographical area where the sea-
man resides or was employed, but may 
be filed with any OSHA officer or em-
ployee. Addresses and telephone num-
bers for these officials are set forth in 
local directories and at the following 
Internet address: http://www.osha.gov. 
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(d) Time for filing. Not later than 180 
days after an alleged violation occurs, 
a seaman who believes that he or she 
has been retaliated against in violation 
of SPA may file, or have filed by any 
person on his or her behalf, a com-
plaint alleging such retaliation. The 
date of the postmark, facsimile trans-
mittal, electronic communication 
transmittal, telephone call, hand-deliv-
ery, delivery to a third-party commer-
cial carrier, or in-person filing at an 
OSHA office will be considered the date 
of filing. The time for filing a com-
plaint may be tolled for reasons war-
ranted by applicable case law. 

(e) Relationship to section 11(c) com-
plaints. A complaint filed under SPA 
alleging facts that would also con-
stitute a violation of section 11(c) of 
the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act, 29 U.S.C. 660(c), will be deemed to 
be a complaint under both SPA and 
section 11(c). Similarly, a complaint 
filed under section 11(c) that alleges 
facts that would also constitute a vio-
lation of SPA will be deemed to be a 
complaint filed under both SPA and 
section 11(c). Normal procedures and 
timeliness requirements under the re-
spective statutes and regulations will 
be followed. 

§ 1986.104 Investigation. 
(a) Upon receipt of a complaint in the 

investigating office, the Assistant Sec-
retary will notify the respondent of the 
filing of the complaint by providing 
the respondent with a copy of the com-
plaint, redacted in accordance with the 
Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a, and 
other applicable confidentiality laws. 
The Assistant Secretary will also no-
tify the respondent of the respondent’s 
rights under paragraphs (b) and (f) of 
this section. The Assistant Secretary 
will provide a copy of the unredacted 
complaint to the complainant (or com-
plainant’s legal counsel, if complainant 
is represented by counsel) and to the 
U.S. Coast Guard. 

(b) Within 20 days of receipt of the 
notice of the filing of the complaint 
provided under paragraph (a) of this 
section, the respondent may submit to 
the Assistant Secretary a written 
statement and any affidavits or docu-
ments substantiating its position. 
Within the same 20 days, the respond-

ent may request a meeting with the 
Assistant Secretary to present its posi-
tion. 

(c) Throughout the investigation, the 
Agency will provide to the complainant 
(or the complainant’s legal counsel if 
complainant is represented by counsel) 
a copy of all of respondent’s submis-
sions to the Agency that are responsive 
to the complainant’s whistleblower 
complaint. Before providing such mate-
rials to the complainant, the Agency 
will redact them, if necessary, in ac-
cordance with the Privacy Act of 1974, 
5 U.S.C. 552a, and other applicable con-
fidentiality laws. The Agency will also 
provide the complainant with an oppor-
tunity to respond to such submissions. 

(d) Investigations will be conducted 
in a manner that protects the confiden-
tiality of any person who provides in-
formation on a confidential basis, 
other than the complainant, in accord-
ance with part 70 of this title. 

(e)(1) A complaint will be dismissed 
unless the complainant has made a 
prima facie showing that protected ac-
tivity was a contributing factor in the 
adverse action alleged in the com-
plaint. 

(2) The complaint, supplemented as 
appropriate by interviews of the com-
plainant, must allege the existence of 
facts and evidence to make a prima 
facie showing as follows: 

(i) The seaman engaged in a pro-
tected activity; 

(ii) The respondent knew or sus-
pected that the seaman engaged in the 
protected activity; 

(iii) The seaman suffered an adverse 
action; and 

(iv) The circumstances were suffi-
cient to raise the inference that the 
protected activity was a contributing 
factor in the adverse action. 

(3) For purposes of determining 
whether to investigate, the complain-
ant will be considered to have met the 
required burden if the complaint on its 
face, supplemented as appropriate 
through interviews of the complainant, 
alleges the existence of facts and either 
direct or circumstantial evidence to 
meet the required showing, i.e., to give 
rise to an inference that the respond-
ent knew or suspected that the seaman 
engaged in protected activity and that 
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the protected activity was a contrib-
uting factor in the adverse action. The 
burden may be satisfied, for example, if 
the complainant shows that the ad-
verse action took place shortly after 
the protected activity, giving rise to 
the inference that it was a contrib-
uting factor in the adverse action. If 
the required showing has not been 
made, the complainant (or the com-
plainant’s legal counsel if complainant 
is represented by counsel) will be so no-
tified and the investigation will not 
commence. 

(4) Notwithstanding a finding that a 
complainant has made a prima facie 
showing, as required by this section, an 
investigation of the complaint will not 
be conducted or will be discontinued if 
the respondent demonstrates by clear 
and convincing evidence that it would 
have taken the same adverse action in 
the absence of the complainant’s pro-
tected activity. 

(5) If the respondent fails to make a 
timely response or fails to satisfy the 
burden set forth in the prior paragraph, 
the Assistant Secretary will proceed 
with the investigation. The investiga-
tion will proceed whenever it is nec-
essary or appropriate to confirm or 
verify the information provided by the 
respondent. 

(f) Prior to the issuance of findings 
and a preliminary order as provided for 
in § 1986.105, if the Assistant Secretary 
has reasonable cause, on the basis of 
information gathered under the proce-
dures of this part, to believe that the 
respondent has violated the Act and 
that preliminary reinstatement is war-
ranted, the Assistant Secretary will 
again contact the respondent (or the 
respondent’s legal counsel, if respond-
ent is represented by counsel) to give 
notice of the substance of the relevant 
evidence supporting the complainant’s 
allegations as developed during the 
course of the investigation. This evi-
dence includes any witness statements, 
which will be redacted to protect the 
identity of confidential informants 
where statements were given in con-
fidence; if the statements cannot be re-
dacted without revealing the identity 
of confidential informants, summaries 
of their contents will be provided. The 
complainant will also receive a copy of 
the materials that must be provided to 

the respondent under this paragraph. 
Before providing such materials to the 
complainant, the Agency will redact 
them, if necessary, in accordance with 
the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. 552a, 
and other applicable confidentiality 
laws. The respondent will be given the 
opportunity to submit a written re-
sponse, to meet with the investigators, 
to present statements from witnesses 
in support of its position, and to 
present legal and factual arguments. 
The respondent must present this evi-
dence within 10 business days of the 
Assistant Secretary’s notification pur-
suant to this paragraph, or as soon 
thereafter as the Assistant Secretary 
and the respondent can agree, if the in-
terests of justice so require. 

§ 1986.105 Issuance of findings and 
preliminary orders. 

(a) After considering all the relevant 
information collected during the inves-
tigation, the Assistant Secretary will 
issue, within 60 days of the filing of the 
complaint, written findings as to 
whether there is reasonable cause to 
believe that the respondent retaliated 
against the complainant in violation of 
SPA. 

(1) If the Assistant Secretary con-
cludes that there is reasonable cause to 
believe that a violation has occurred, 
the Assistant Secretary will accom-
pany the findings with a preliminary 
order providing relief. Such order will 
require, where appropriate: affirmative 
action to abate the violation; rein-
statement of the complainant to his or 
her former position, with the same 
compensation, terms, conditions and 
privileges of the complainant’s employ-
ment; payment of compensatory dam-
ages (back pay with interest and com-
pensation for any special damages sus-
tained as a result of the retaliation, in-
cluding any litigation costs, expert 
witness fees, and reasonable attorney 
fees which the complainant has in-
curred). Interest on back pay will be 
calculated using the interest rate ap-
plicable to underpayment of taxes 
under 26 U.S.C. 6621 and will be com-
pounded daily. The preliminary order 
may also require the respondent to pay 
punitive damages of up to $250,000. 
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(2) If the Assistant Secretary con-
cludes that a violation has not oc-
curred, the Assistant Secretary will 
notify the parties of that finding. 

(b) The findings and, where appro-
priate, the preliminary order will be 
sent by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, to all parties of record (and 
each party’s legal counsel if the party 
is represented by counsel). The findings 
and, where appropriate, the prelimi-
nary order will inform the parties of 
the right to object to the findings and/ 
or the order and to request a hearing. 
The findings and, where appropriate, 
the preliminary order also will give the 
address of the Chief Administrative 
Law Judge, U.S. Department of Labor. 
At the same time, the Assistant Sec-
retary will file with the Chief Adminis-
trative Law Judge, a copy of the origi-
nal complaint and a copy of the find-
ings and/or order. 

(c) The findings and the preliminary 
order will be effective 30 days after re-
ceipt by the respondent (or the re-
spondent’s legal counsel if the respond-
ent is represented by counsel), or on 
the compliance date set forth in the 
preliminary order, whichever is later, 
unless an objection and request for a 
hearing have been timely filed as pro-
vided at § 1986.106. However, the portion 
of any preliminary order requiring re-
instatement will be effective imme-
diately upon the respondent’s receipt 
of the findings and the preliminary 
order, regardless of any objections to 
the findings and/or the order. 

Subpart B—Litigation 
§ 1986.106 Objections to the findings 

and the preliminary order and re-
quest for a hearing. 

(a) Any party who desires review, in-
cluding judicial review, must file any 
objections and a request for a hearing 
on the record within 30 days of receipt 
of the findings and preliminary order 
pursuant to § 1986.105(c). The objections 
and request for a hearing must be in 
writing and state whether the objec-
tions are to the findings and/or the pre-
liminary order. The date of the post-
mark, facsimile transmittal, or elec-
tronic communication transmittal is 
considered the date of filing; if the ob-
jection is filed in person, by hand-de-

livery or other means, the objection is 
filed upon receipt. Objections must be 
filed with the Chief Administrative 
Law Judge, U.S. Department of Labor, 
and copies of the objections must be 
mailed at the same time to the other 
parties of record, and the OSHA official 
who issued the findings. 

(b) If a timely objection is filed, all 
provisions of the preliminary order will 
be stayed, except for the portion re-
quiring preliminary reinstatement, 
which will not be automatically 
stayed. The portion of the preliminary 
order requiring reinstatement will be 
effective immediately upon the re-
spondent’s receipt of the findings and 
preliminary order, regardless of any 
objections to the order. The respondent 
may file a motion with the Office of 
Administrative Law Judges for a stay 
of the Assistant Secretary’s prelimi-
nary order of reinstatement, which 
shall be granted only based on excep-
tional circumstances. If no timely ob-
jection is filed with respect to either 
the findings or the preliminary order, 
the findings and/or preliminary order 
will become the final decision of the 
Secretary, not subject to judicial re-
view. 

§ 1986.107 Hearings. 

(a) Except as provided in this part, 
proceedings will be conducted in ac-
cordance with the rules of practice and 
procedure for administrative hearings 
before the Office of Administrative 
Law Judges, codified at subpart A of 
part 18 of this title. 

(b) Upon receipt of an objection and 
request for hearing, the Chief Adminis-
trative Law Judge will promptly assign 
the case to an ALJ who will notify the 
parties, by certified mail, of the day, 
time, and place of hearing. The hearing 
is to commence expeditiously, except 
upon a showing of good cause or unless 
otherwise agreed to by the parties. 
Hearings will be conducted de novo on 
the record. ALJs have broad discretion 
to limit discovery in order to expedite 
the hearing. 

(c) If both the complainant and the 
respondent object to the findings and/ 
or order, the objections will be consoli-
dated, and a single hearing will be con-
ducted. 
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(d) Formal rules of evidence will not 
apply, but rules or principles designed 
to assure production of the most pro-
bative evidence will be applied. The 
ALJ may exclude evidence that is im-
material, irrelevant, or unduly repeti-
tious. 

§ 1986.108 Role of Federal agencies. 

(a)(1) The complainant and the re-
spondent will be parties in every pro-
ceeding. In any case in which the re-
spondent objects to the findings or the 
preliminary order, the Assistant Sec-
retary ordinarily will be the pros-
ecuting party. In any other cases, at 
the Assistant Secretary’s discretion, 
the Assistant Secretary may partici-
pate as a party or participate as ami-
cus curiae at any stage of the pro-
ceeding. This right to participate in-
cludes, but is not limited to, the right 
to petition for review of a decision of 
an ALJ, including a decision approving 
or rejecting a settlement agreement 
between the complainant and the re-
spondent. 

(2) If the Assistant Secretary as-
sumes the role of prosecuting party in 
accordance with paragraph (a)(1) of 
this section, he or she may, upon writ-
ten notice to the ALJ or the Adminis-
trative Review Board, as the case may 
be, and the other parties, withdraw as 
the prosecuting party in the exercise of 
prosecutorial discretion. If the Assist-
ant Secretary withdraws, the com-
plainant will become the prosecuting 
party and the ALJ or the Administra-
tive Review Board, as the case may be, 
will issue appropriate orders to regu-
late the course of future proceedings. 

(3) Copies of documents in all cases 
shall be sent to all parties, or if they 
are represented by counsel, to the lat-
ter. In cases in which the Assistant 
Secretary is a party, copies of the doc-
uments shall be sent to the Regional 
Solicitor’s Office representing the As-
sistant Secretary. 

(b) The U.S. Coast Guard, if inter-
ested in a proceeding, may participate 
as amicus curiae at any time in the 
proceeding, at its discretion. At the re-
quest of the U.S. Coast Guard, copies of 
all documents in a case must be sent to 
that agency, whether or not that agen-
cy is participating in the proceeding. 

§ 1986.109 Decisions and orders of the 
administrative law judge. 

(a) The decision of the ALJ will con-
tain appropriate findings, conclusions, 
and an order pertaining to the rem-
edies provided in paragraph (d) of this 
section, as appropriate. A determina-
tion that a violation has occurred may 
be made only if the complainant has 
demonstrated by a preponderance of 
the evidence that protected activity 
was a contributing factor in the ad-
verse action alleged in the complaint. 

(b) If the complainant or the Assist-
ant Secretary has satisfied the burden 
set forth in the prior paragraph, relief 
may not be ordered if the respondent 
demonstrates by clear and convincing 
evidence that it would have taken the 
same adverse action in the absence of 
any protected activity. 

(c) Neither the Assistant Secretary’s 
determination to dismiss a complaint 
without completing an investigation 
pursuant to § 1986.104(e) nor the Assist-
ant Secretary’s determination to pro-
ceed with an investigation is subject to 
review by the ALJ, and a complaint 
may not be remanded for the comple-
tion of an investigation or for addi-
tional findings on the basis that a de-
termination to dismiss was made in 
error. Rather, if there otherwise is ju-
risdiction, the ALJ will hear the case 
on the merits or dispose of the matter 
without a hearing if the facts and cir-
cumstances warrant. 

(d)(1) If the ALJ concludes that the 
respondent has violated the law, the 
ALJ will issue an order that will re-
quire, where appropriate: affirmative 
action to abate the violation, rein-
statement of the complainant to his or 
her former position, with the same 
compensation, terms, conditions, and 
privileges of the complainant’s employ-
ment; payment of compensatory dam-
ages (back pay with interest and com-
pensation for any special damages sus-
tained as a result of the retaliation, in-
cluding any litigation costs, expert 
witness fees, and reasonable attorney 
fees which the complainant may have 
incurred); and payment of punitive 
damages up to $250,000. Interest on 
back pay will be calculated using the 
interest rate applicable to under-
payment of taxes under 26 U.S.C. 6621 
and will be compounded daily. 
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(2) If the ALJ determines that the re-
spondent has not violated the law, an 
order will be issued denying the com-
plaint. 

(e) The decision will be served upon 
all parties to the proceeding, the As-
sistant Secretary, and the Associate 
Solicitor, Division of Occupational 
Safety and Health, U.S. Department of 
Labor. Any ALJ’s decision requiring 
reinstatement or lifting an order of re-
instatement by the Assistant Sec-
retary will be effective immediately 
upon receipt of the decision by the re-
spondent. All other portions of the 
ALJ’s order will be effective 14 days 
after the date of the decision unless a 
timely petition for review has been 
filed with the Administrative Review 
Board (ARB), U.S. Department of 
Labor. The ALJ decision will become 
the final order of the Secretary unless 
a petition for review is timely filed 
with the ARB and the ARB accepts the 
decision for review. 

§ 1986.110 Decisions and orders of the 
Administrative Review Board. 

(a) The Assistant Secretary or any 
other party desiring to seek review, in-
cluding judicial review, of a decision of 
the ALJ must file a written petition 
for review with the ARB, which has 
been delegated the authority to act for 
the Secretary and issue final decisions 
under this part. The parties should 
identify in their petitions for review 
the legal conclusions or orders to 
which they object, or the objections 
may be deemed waived. A petition 
must be filed within 14 days of the date 
of the decision of the ALJ. The date of 
the postmark, facsimile transmittal, or 
electronic communication transmittal 
will be considered to be the date of fil-
ing; if the petition is filed in person, by 
hand-delivery or other means, the peti-
tion is considered filed upon receipt. 
The petition must be served on all par-
ties and on the Chief Administrative 
Law Judge at the time it is filed with 
the ARB. Copies of the petition for re-
view and all briefs must be served on 
the Assistant Secretary and, in cases 
in which the Assistant Secretary is a 
party, on the Associate Solicitor, Divi-
sion of Occupational Safety and 
Health, U.S. Department of Labor. 

(b) If a timely petition for review is 
filed pursuant to paragraph (a) of this 
section, the decision of the ALJ will 
become the final order of the Secretary 
unless the ARB, within 30 days of the 
filing of the petition, issues an order 
notifying the parties that the case has 
been accepted for review. If a case is 
accepted for review, the decision of the 
ALJ will be inoperative unless and 
until the ARB issues an order adopting 
the decision, except that any order of 
reinstatement will be effective while 
review is conducted by the ARB unless 
the ARB grants a motion by the re-
spondent to stay that order based on 
exceptional circumstances. The ARB 
will specify the terms under which any 
briefs are to be filed. The ARB will re-
view the factual determinations of the 
ALJ under the substantial evidence 
standard. If no timely petition for re-
view is filed, or the ARB denies review, 
the decision of the ALJ will become 
the final order of the Secretary. If no 
timely petition for review is filed, the 
resulting final order is not subject to 
judicial review. 

(c) The final decision of the ARB will 
be issued within 120 days of the conclu-
sion of the hearing, which will be 
deemed to be 14 days after the date of 
the decision of the ALJ, unless a mo-
tion for reconsideration has been filed 
with the ALJ in the interim. In such 
case, the conclusion of the hearing is 
the date the motion for reconsideration 
is ruled upon or 14 days after a new de-
cision is issued. The ARB’s final deci-
sion will be served upon all parties and 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge by 
mail. The final decision also will be 
served on the Assistant Secretary and 
on the Associate Solicitor, Division of 
Occupational Safety and Health, U.S. 
Department of Labor, even if the As-
sistant Secretary is not a party. 

(d) If the ARB concludes that the re-
spondent has violated the law, the ARB 
will issue a final order providing relief 
to the complainant. The final order 
will require, where appropriate: affirm-
ative action to abate the violation; re-
instatement of the complainant to his 
or her former position, with the same 
compensation, terms, conditions, and 
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privileges of the complainant’s employ-
ment; payment of compensatory dam-
ages (backpay with interest and com-
pensation for any special damages sus-
tained as a result of the retaliation, in-
cluding any litigation costs, expert 
witness fees, and reasonable attorney 
fees the complainant may have in-
curred); and payment of punitive dam-
ages up to $250,000. Interest on backpay 
will be calculated using the interest 
rate applicable to underpayment of 
taxes under 26 U.S.C. 6621 and will be 
compounded daily. 

(e) If the ARB determines that the 
respondent has not violated the law, an 
order will be issued denying the com-
plaint. 

Subpart C—Miscellaneous 
Provisions 

§ 1986.111 Withdrawal of SPA com-
plaints, findings, objections, and pe-
titions for review; settlement. 

(a) At any time prior to the filing of 
objections to the Assistant Secretary’s 
findings and/or preliminary order, a 
complainant may withdraw his or her 
complaint by notifying the Assistant 
Secretary, orally or in writing, of his 
or her withdrawal. The Assistant Sec-
retary then will confirm in writing the 
complainant’s desire to withdraw and 
determine whether to approve the 
withdrawal. The Assistant Secretary 
will notify the parties (and each par-
ty’s legal counsel if the party is rep-
resented by counsel) of the approval of 
any withdrawal. If the complaint is 
withdrawn because of settlement, the 
settlement must be submitted for ap-
proval in accordance with paragraph 
(d) of this section. A complainant may 
not withdraw his or her complaint 
after the filing of objections to the As-
sistant Secretary’s findings and/or pre-
liminary order. 

(b) The Assistant Secretary may 
withdraw the findings and/or a prelimi-
nary order at any time before the expi-
ration of the 30-day objection period 
described in § 1986.106, provided that no 
objection has been filed yet, and sub-
stitute new findings and/or a new pre-
liminary order. The date of the receipt 
of the substituted findings or order will 
begin a new 30-day objection period. 

(c) At any time before the Assistant 
Secretary’s findings and/or preliminary 
order become final, a party may with-
draw objections to the Assistant Sec-
retary’s findings and/or preliminary 
order by filing a written withdrawal 
with the ALJ. If a case is on review 
with the ARB, a party may withdraw a 
petition for review of an ALJ’s decision 
at any time before that decision be-
comes final by filing a written with-
drawal with the ARB. The ALJ or the 
ARB, as the case may be, will deter-
mine whether to approve the with-
drawal of the objections or the petition 
for review. If the ALJ approves a re-
quest to withdraw objections to the As-
sistant Secretary’s findings and/or 
order, and there are no other pending 
objections, the Assistant Secretary’s 
findings and/or order will become the 
final order of the Secretary. If the ARB 
approves a request to withdraw a peti-
tion for review of an ALJ decision, and 
there are no other pending petitions for 
review of that decision, the ALJ’s deci-
sion will become the final order of the 
Secretary. If objections or a petition 
for review are withdrawn because of 
settlement, the settlement must be 
submitted for approval in accordance 
with paragraph (d) of this section. 

(d)(1) Investigative settlements. At any 
time after the filing of a SPA com-
plaint and before the findings and/or 
order are objected to or become a final 
order by operation of law, the case may 
be settled if the Assistant Secretary, 
the complainant, and the respondent 
agree to a settlement. The Assistant 
Secretary’s approval of a settlement 
reached by the respondent and the 
complainant demonstrates the Assist-
ant Secretary’s consent and achieves 
the consent of all three parties. 

(2) Adjudicatory settlements. At any 
time after the filing of objections to 
the Assistant Secretary’s findings and/ 
or order, the case may be settled if the 
participating parties agree to a settle-
ment and the settlement is approved 
by the ALJ if the case is before the 
ALJ or by the ARB, if the ARB has ac-
cepted the case for review. A copy of 
the settlement will be filed with the 
ALJ or the ARB as the case may be. 

(e) Any settlement approved by the 
Assistant Secretary, the ALJ, or the 
ARB will constitute the final order of 
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the Secretary and may be enforced in a 
United States district court pursuant 
to 49 U.S.C. 31105(e), as incorporated by 
46 U.S.C. 2114(b). 

§ 1986.112 Judicial review. 
(a) Within 60 days after the issuance 

of a final order under §§ 1986.109 and 
1986.110, any person adversely affected 
or aggrieved by the order may file a pe-
tition for review of the order in the 
United States Court of Appeals for the 
circuit in which the violation allegedly 
occurred or the circuit in which the 
complainant resided on the date of the 
violation. 

(b) A final order is not subject to ju-
dicial review in any criminal or other 
civil proceeding. 

(c) If a timely petition for review is 
filed, the record of a case, including the 
record of proceedings before the ALJ, 
will be transmitted by the ARB, or the 
ALJ, as the case may be, to the appro-
priate court pursuant to the Federal 
Rules of Appellate Procedure and the 
local rules of such court. 

§ 1986.113 Judicial enforcement. 
Whenever any person has failed to 

comply with a preliminary order of re-
instatement or a final order, including 
one approving a settlement agreement 
issued under SPA, the Secretary may 
file a civil action seeking enforcement 
of the order in the United States dis-
trict court for the district in which the 
violation was found to have occurred. 

§ 1986.114 District court jurisdiction of 
retaliation complaints under SPA. 

(a) If there is no final order of the 
Secretary, 210 days have passed since 
the filing of the complaint, and there is 
no showing that there has been delay 
due to the bad faith of the complain-
ant, the complainant may bring an ac-
tion at law or equity for de novo review 
in the appropriate district court of the 
United States, which will have jurisdic-
tion over such an action without re-
gard to the amount in controversy. The 
action shall, at the request of either 
party to such action, be tried by the 
court with a jury. 

(b) Within seven days after filing a 
complaint in federal court, a complain-
ant must file with the Assistant Sec-
retary, the ALJ, or the ARB, depending 

on where the proceeding is pending, a 
copy of the file-stamped complaint. A 
copy of the complaint also must be 
served on the OSHA official who issued 
the findings and/or preliminary order, 
the Assistant Secretary, and the Asso-
ciate Solicitor, Division of Occupa-
tional Safety and Health, U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor. 

§ 1986.115 Special circumstances; wai- 
ver of rules. 

In special circumstances not con-
templated by the provisions of these 
rules, or for good cause shown, the ALJ 
or the ARB on review may, upon appli-
cation, after three days notice to all 
parties, waive any rule or issue such 
orders as justice or the administration 
of SPA requires. 

PART 1990—IDENTIFICATION, 
CLASSIFICATION, AND REGULA-
TION OF POTENTIAL OCCUPA-
TIONAL CARCINOGENS 

GENERAL 

Sec. 
1990.101 Scope. 
1990.102 Purpose. 
1990.103 Definitions. 
1990.104 Scientific review panel. 
1990.105 Advisory committees. 
1990.106 Amendments to this policy. 

THE OSHA CANCER POLICY 

1990.111 General statement of regulatory 
policy. 

1990.112 Classification of potential carcino-
gens. 

PRIORITY SETTING 

1990.121 Candidate list of potential occupa-
tional carcinogens. 

1990.122 Response to petitions. 
1990.131 Priority lists for regulating poten-

tial occupational carcinogens. 
1990.132 Factors to be considered. 
1990.133 Publication. 

REGULATION OF POTENTIAL OCCUPATIONAL 
CARCINOGENS 

1990.141 Advance notice of proposed rule-
making. 

1990.142 Initiation of a rulemaking. 
1990.143 General provisions for the use of 

human and animal data. 
1990.144 Criteria for consideration of argu-

ments on certain issues. 
1990.145 Consideration of substantial new 

issues or substantial new evidence. 
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